69214.3

No. 69214-3-I COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION ONE

In the Matter of the Estate of:

CALVIN H. EVANS, SR., Deceased

SHARON EVANS, VICKI SANSING, and KENNETH EVANS,

Respondents

v.

CALVIN H. EVANS, JR.

Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT CALVIN H. EVANS, JR.

Michael T. Schein, WSBA # 21646 Sullivan Law Firm Columbia Center 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4600 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 903-0504

Attorneys for Appellant

1020-5 11112:04

I. INTRODUCTION

In December 2004, Calvin H. Evans, Sr. ("Cal SR") asked his son Calvin H. Evans, Jr. ("Cal JR") to take care of him and his ranch in Sultan, in exchange for a promise to will the ranch to him. Cal JR accepted this offer, sold his business, moved his family to the ranch, and spent the next six years (until the death of his father) toiling day in and day out on the ranch, and putting all of his own money into it, as well as some of his father's money. Cal SR kept his word and, in March 2006, he made a will leaving the ranch to Cal JR. The trial court found that Cal SR was competent when he made this will, and that it was not the product of undue influence. Nonetheless, based on a TEDRA petition filed by Cal SR's other children, the trial court found that Cal JR's use of some of his father's resources in the ranch constituted willful financial exploitation of a vulnerable adult. Based on a 2009 amendment to the Slayer Statute to include financial exploitation as a basis for disinheritance, Laws of 2009, ch. 525 (codified in Ch. 11.84, RCW), the trial court concluded that Cal JR should be deemed to predecease his father, and should take nothing.

This appeal argues that there is no clear, cogent and convincing evidence of intentional financial abuse of a vulnerable adult, because (1) Cal JR made extensive contributions of labor and personal funds to maintain and improve the ranch; (2) Cal JR's contributions were

consideration for their agreement, benefitting Cal SR; (3) Cal SR's contributions were part of their deal; and (4) at the relevant times, Cal SR was not in fact a vulnerable adult, and was competent to consent to basic decisions about the use of his money and the work to be done on his ranch.

Second, this appeal argues that RCW 11.84.170(1), which permits a financial exploiter to inherit if there was knowledge and ratification, and the strong judicial policy in favor of carrying out the intent of a competent testator, requires that the trial court make findings about the testator's knowledge and ratification of the expenditures of his funds. Here, the fact that the will was executed *after* most of the challenged expenditures occurred is the strongest evidence of ratification.

Third, this appeal asks this Court to hold that the trial court needs to make findings on the application of RCW 11.84.170(2), which allows the court to find an equitable middle ground short of complete disinheritance, and that here it was an abuse of discretion not to consider a penalty commensurate with the value of the harm as a lesser alternative to completely setting aside an otherwise valid testamentary scheme.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES

A. Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred by entering judgment against Cal JR, including the award of attorneys' fees in favor of Petitioners.

- The trial court erred in Findings of Fact 62, 69, 105, 114, 115, 117 120, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 129, 130, 173, 174, 175, 177, 178, 180, 181, 196, 199, 200, 203, 205, 206, 207, and 209.
- 3. The trial court erred in Conclusions of Law 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10.
- 4. The trial court erred by denying Cal JR's Motion for Reconsideration / New Trial.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Did the trial court err in finding Cal JR to be a financial abuser because there is no clear, cogent and convincing evidence that Cal JR willfully intended to inflict financial injury on Cal SR?
- 2. Did the trial court err in finding Cal JR to be a financial abuser because the Conclusion of Law that Cal SR was a vulnerable adult at the time of the challenged expenditures is not supported by the Findings, and the Findings are not supported by clear, cogent and convincing evidence, and are too vague as to time period?
- 3. Did the trial court err in concluding there was no benefit to Cal SR from Cal JR's investment of time and money in Cal SR's ranch?
- 4. Did the trial court err in failing to make findings under, and failing to apply the requirements of, RCW 11.84.070(1), permitting inheritance by an alleged financial exploiter when the decedent knew of and ratified the challenged conduct; thus destroying the plan of distribution in a will made by a competent testator after most of the challenged expenditures?
- 5. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by failing to make findings under RCW 11.84.170(2), and by failing to consider any lesser alternative to complete disinheritance, in light of the relatively small "harm" (if any) to the estate in relation to the substantial benefits it received from Cal JR, and the overall value of the estate?
- 6. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by denying the motion for reconsideration?

7. Should this court reverse the award of attorney fees below, and award attorney fees to Cal JR on appeal?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

1. Calvin H. Evans SR

Calvin H. Evans, Sr. was born on March 8, 1933. He owned and operated a successful excavation construction business. CP 186 (FF#1). He was divorced and had four children: Kenneth Evans, Vicki Sansing, Sharon Eaden, and Calvin H. Evans, Jr. CP 186 (FF#3).

a. <u>Cal SR's Health and Competency</u>

Cal SR suffered from polycythemia, a thickening of the blood, which predisposed him to stroke. He suffered his first stroke in 2000, CP 186-87 (FF #7), a second stroke in March 2005, CP 190 (FF #35), and a third stroke in November 2006. 2 RP 60-61/15-2.

On December 28, 2005, Sharon Eaden filed a guardianship petition alleging that Cal SR was incapacitated and needed a guardian. CP 194 (FF #82). Cal SR did not want a guardian, and was angry at Sharon for filing this petition. CP 195 (FF #83). Chuck Diesen, who had been Cal SR's trusted attorney since 1970, was appointed to represent Cal SR in the guardianship. CP 195 (FF #86); 5 RP 678/18-20; 6 RP 872/9-13; 11 RP 1625/15-20. The GAL, Erv DeSmet, met with Cal SR in January, February, and April 2006, and issued his first report in April 2006. Ex. 6; 2 RP 45/1-5. According to the GAL, Cal SR was like a Montana man – proud and independent, he didn't want the government, Sharon, or anyone else in his business. 2 RP 45-46/6-3. The GAL's report states, "Having visited with Calvin Evans, Sr. on three occasions, I am also impressed with the degree to which he can manage his own life." Ex. 6 p.18.

On January 28, 2006, psychologist Dr. Eisenhauer met with Cal SR for the purpose of assessing the need for a guardianship. CP 197 (FF #101). She made her report on March 16, 2006. An addendum was later made, but both the report and addendum were based on the one examination made January 28, 2006. CP 197 (FF #102).

Dr. Eisenhauer's diagnosis in 2006 was dementia secondary to stroke. CP 197 (FF #103). Cal SR had memory impairment, mild disorientation, disturbances in executive functioning, and impaired judgment and insight. CP 197 (FF #104). Long-term memory was reasonably but not fully preserved, and short-term memory was significantly below the expected performance of intact elderly persons, but at the 57th percentile when compared with other persons with dementia. Overall functioning was significantly compromised when compared with persons without dementia, but in the 82nd percentile when compared with other persons with dementia. CP 197-98 (FF ##106-107).

Significantly (for purposes of analysis of **willful** financial exploitation), Dr. Eisenhauer found that, given Cal SR's intact attention skills, he would, on the surface, look more functional than he was. CP 198 (FF #109). What's more, "on subjects of greater interest to him, such as airplanes, ranches, and land values," Cal SR "spoke knowledgeably, articulately and cogently to Dr. Eisenhauer." CP 199 (FF #121). The doctor noted that "Mr. Evans was coherent and expressed himself in a linear manner. He used a good range of vocabulary. He was able to process simple questions at a normal rate and could answer them without needing repetition of the question." 4 RP 447/21-25.

Cal JR testified that his father "wasn't incompetent ever." 8 RP 1227/6-9. He added that, "As Dad went on, his memory deficit grew, but he was very fun to talk to right up to the day he left." 8 RP 1228/8-10. Likewise, Chuck Diesen, Cal SR's attorney for over 35 years, described him on January 25, 2006 as "a very confident, in-charge guy" 6 RP 736/12-15. In November 2005, Diesen had no question about Cal SR's competency to make a will. 11 RP 1634/4-6. At the time he executed his will on March 7, 2006, Cal SR was "upright, bright eyed and bushy tailed, clean shaven, clothes in good repair, and talking to [Mr. Diesen] like we have talked for years." 11 RP 1695/1-7. He was totally competent to make a will on that date in Mr. Diesen's opinion. 11 RP 1647/8-18.

Indeed, Mr. Diesen testified that Cal SR was "always competent." 11 RP 1707/10-16, 1713/16-23, 1714/12-14.

The trial court agreed with respect to competency to make a will. It found that Cal SR demonstrated to Dr. Eisenhauer overall knowledge of the extent of his assets, and that he understood the natural objects of his bounty and the transaction in which he was then engaged. CP 196 (FF #97); CP 198 (FF #111). It thus concluded that Cal SR had testamentary capacity on March 7, 2006, when he executed his will. CP 209 (CL #2).

The trial court made several findings suggesting that, although Cal SR understood the basics of transactions, he was vulnerable to being misled and to undue influence. CP 199 (FF ##114, 117); CP 200 (FF ##124, 125, 127). The trial court found that **both** Sharon Eaden and Cal JR attempted to influence the contents of Cal SR's will. CP 194 (FF #80). Significantly, however, the trial court concluded that they failed to unduly influence Cal SR, and that the last will of March 7, 2006, was not the product of undue influence. CP 209 (CL #3).

According to Sharon Eaden's diary for August 22, 2005, which she spent with Cal SR making a balance sheet of his estate: "I felt that he was completely understanding everything we discussed. It was clear his health and mental endurance had improved." Ex. 51, p.9; 5 RP 586-87/17-8. Significantly, Cal SR had his second stroke in March 2005, and not another stroke until November 2006. CP 190 (FF #35); 2 RP 60-61/15-2. Dr. Eisenhauer states that, "Subsequent to stroke, an individual is apt to show improvement during the first six months post-stroke with some continuing improvement for the next six months." 14 RP 1973/17-20.

One of the Petitioners, Cal SR's daughter Vicki Sansing, borrowed \$30,000 from Cal SR in **November 2006** for a down payment on Vicki's new home. 3 RP 260-61/12-25, 371/4-6; 11 RP 1662/4-7. Chuck Diesen discussed this loan with Cal SR, and felt it was perfectly fine so long as it was documented. 11 RP 1662/9-18. Thus, at least one of the Petitioners and Cal SR's lawyer treated Cal SR as competent to decide what to do with his money as late as November 2006.

One part of Dr. Eisenhauer's exam suggests that Cal SR may even have been sharper than the good doctor. According to Dr. Eisenhauer's report, "In this same realm of executive thinking, [Cal SR] showed faulty judgment. Asked what he should do if he were the first person in a movie theater to see smoke and fire, he responded 'I would promptly yell "fire" and try to beat them all out." 4 RP 449/6-10. In January 2006, Cal SR demonstrated his sharp wit and poked a bit of fun at the guardianship process that he detested, thus showing he was fully in control.

b. <u>Cal SR's Guardianship and Will</u>

Although the guardianship was filed in December 2005, an actual order placing Cal SR in limited guardianship was not entered until June 25, 2008.¹ Ex. 35. Even then the order specifically allowed Cal SR a lot of decision-making authority, including the right to allow any of his children to live on the ranch rent free. Ex. 35, p.7.² A prior order on May 11, 2006 directed use of the lesser alternative of a revocable trust. CP 201 (FF #134); Ex. 82. That order states Cal SR "has cognitive deficits which are subtle and exist amid many intact cognitive abilities." Ex. 82 ¶1.6.

Cal SR was sufficiently angry with Sharon for the guardianship that he changed his estate plan. In the Fall of 2005, Chuck Diesen had drafted a will for Cal SR that left Cal JR the Sultan ranch, and divided the remaining property between the other three children, Ken, Vicki and Sharon. CP 194 (FF #78). But after the guardianship was filed, Cal SR executed a will that left the Sultan ranch and Cal SR's Cessna airplane to Cal JR, divided the remaining real estate between Ken and Vicki (but not Sharon), left Sharon only \$25,000, and then provided annual bequests of

¹ Finding #203 says the guardianship was established in June 2007, but we challenge this scrivener's error because the order establishing guardianship, Ex. 35, was entered June 25, 2008. *See*, Appendix B. The oral decision agrees it was 2008. 14 RP 1978-79/24-1. ² Cal SR fought the guardianship through trial in June 2008, supported by his loyal son Cal JR. In their view, Cal SR was competent to make decisions for himself. Ex. 35; 3 RP 287/2-3; 6 RP 760/5-12; 8 RP 1227/6-9.

the remainder of his estate to the three children excluding Sharon, plus his grandchildren. CP 195-196 (FF ##87-94). Cal JR testified that he told his father that Sharon should share equally with the rest of the children in the 2006 will. 10 RP 1500/7-10. Chuck Diesen testified that reducing Sharon's share was Cal SR's idea. 11 RP 1652-53/12-4.

Cal SR lived mostly at the Sultan ranch until the guardianship was established in June 2008, then he moved back and forth for a year, until he moved full time to his daughter Vicki's house in Kent in June 2009. 2 RP 66/1-15, 3 RP 278-81/3-3; 5 RP 663/11-13. Kent was the first place where Cal SR was provided licensed home care, starting after June 2008. 3 RP 280/17-20, 409-10/22-12.

2. The Sultan Ranch

In the Fall of 2003, Cal SR sold his 100 acres in Duvall and purchased two pieces of property in Sultan: a 40-acre parcel known as the Sultan ranch, and a 70-acre parcel located about one mile down the road from the ranch. CP 188-89 (FF ##23, 25). The purchase price for the Sultan ranch was \$887,500. CP 189 (FF #26). The Sultan ranch was purchased from Jack Choate. Cal SR told Mr. Choate that he wanted his son Cal JR to sell his Idaho home and business and move to the ranch, that he intended to establish a business relationship with Cal JR, and that when he died he intended to leave the ranch to Cal JR. CP 189 (FF#28). Cal SR told Mr. Choate that he planned to leave the 70-acre parcel to his other three children, Ken, Vicki and Sharon. CP 189 (FF#29).

During this time, Cal JR was living in Post Falls, Idaho with his wife Debbie, daughter Lindsey, and three boys, Calvin III, Jesse and Cory. CP 188 (FF #24); 7 RP 939-40/17-8, 941/5-12. Like his father, Cal JR ran an excavation construction business. 7 RP 975-76/10-1. Cal JR began this work at about age 13, working at his father's side on a number of excavation projects. 7 RP 971/5-15, 8 RP 1218/7-24.

In December 2004, Cal SR telephoned Cal JR, told his son that he had only one year left to live, and asked Cal JR to move to the ranch to take care of him and the ranch in exchange for ultimately becoming the ranch owner. CP 189 (FF#32); 7 RP 986-88/22-2. Cal SR also telephoned Chuck Diesen that month, and told him he wanted to leave the horse farm to Cal JR. 5 RP 686/1-14. Cal JR met twice with Cal SR prior to accepting this offer. 7 RP 990/16-19. In those discussions, Cal SR said that Cal JR and his family could take over the main part of the house and that he would move to the large apartment over the garage, that he had lots of money so they wouldn't have to worry about money again, that Cal JR would receive "a business income from the operation of the ranch, which was expected to be in excess of \$3,000 a month," and that Cal JR would run the ranch and ultimately get the ranch. CP 189 (FF#31); CP 205

(FF#170); 7 RP 991-92/21-2; 8 RP 1068/1-6; 9 RP 1287/3-6, 1290-91/19-

4, 1298/6-15. After talking it over with his wife Debbie, Cal JR accepted his father's offer and moved his family from Idaho to the Sultan ranch in January 2005. Then, after wrapping up his ongoing construction projects and selling some of his business equipment, Cal JR followed on April 1, 2005. CP 190 (FF#34); 7 RP 990/4-6, 998-1000/14-9.

3. Labor and Money Invested by Cal JR in Cal SR's Property

Before leaving Idaho, Cal JR and Debbie sold their home for \$134,000, and sold business property. 8 RP 1068-69/22-4. When Cal JR arrived in Sultan he opened an account at Coastal Community Bank and deposited \$225,000 derived from these sales, plus work he had just finished up. 8 RP 1145/3-17. Both Debbie and Cal JR testified that a majority of that money went into the Sultan ranch. 8 RP 1093-94/9-12, 1094-95/21-3, 1095-96/24-3, 1146/14-18.

The trial court made two general findings about the work and money invested in the ranch by Cal JR:

Cal, Jr., did perform work on the Sultan ranch to level the ground, cut back blackberries, burn trash, grade trails, fix the barn floor and plumbing, paint the barn, level and compact the indoor arena, and add an outdoor arena.

Cal Evans, Jr., did invest funds from the sale of his business and home on improvements on the ranch. There has, however, been no accounting of his own funds invested in the ranch or for the value of the time he has expended in making these improvements while he was on the ranch.

CP 208 (FF##198, 199).

Respondent's Exhibit 98, admitted without objection, 10 RP

1402/8-20, is a Decree of Dissolution entered September 15, 2011 in the

divorce between Cal JR and Debbie, which states:

The court finds that the parties hereto made a substantial investment of not only funds but time and effort in the real property owned by Cal Evans, Sr. Their interest in that property is now the subject of litigation in the Estate of Calvin Evans, Sr. (Snohomish County Cause No. 11-4-00565-3) that is not before the Court and the outcome of which is uncertain. *However, the Court does find adequate evidence that at least* \$174,000.00 of community funds were invested in this real property. ...

Ex. 98, page 2 of Exhibit A to Decree, §I(Q) – Property Awarded to the Wife (excerpt attached as Appendix A to Brief) (emphasis added). Exhibit 98 includes an attached transcript of an oral decision given by Judge Linda Krese, which states, *inter alia*, that "it's absolutely clear" that "[s]ome of the funds from the sale of the property in Idaho . . . and income from that [Idaho excavating] business were invested in the [the Sultan ranch]." Ex. 98, Court's Oral Decision of July 19, 2011 (*Evans v. Evans*, Snohomish Superior No. 10-3-00876-6), at 14-15; *see also, id.* at 16.

In this TEDRA action, Cal JR presented the following evidence of labor and money that he and Debbie invested in the Sultan ranch: (1) April, 2005 – General clean-up, including Cal SR's stuff in small metal barn. Immediately on arrival, Cal SR wanted Cal JR to get to work cleaning up stuff lying around the Sultan ranch that had been left by thirty years of prior owners. Cal JR spent weeks working on that. 9 RP 1301/7-10. Included in that job was the clean-out of two stalls in the smaller metal barn that Cal SR had stacked to the ceiling with garbage bags, and another stall filled with wadded up fencing wire that was very difficult to remove. 7 RP 1004-05/21-6.

(2) May-June, 2005 – Removing stumps. This was work Cal SR had started, but not gotten very far with. 9 RP 1303/12-19. When Cal JR moved to the ranch there were 38 horses, 11 belonging to Cal SR, plus Cal JR brought 7 more. 7 RP 1010/9-20. To protect them it was necessary to remove stumps in the horse paddocks, which took Cal JR about two months. 9 RP 1301-02/17-1, 1302-03/25-11, 1304/1-5, 1304/20-25. Cal JR was experienced in the use of large machinery for stump removal, and he used machinery he had brought with him from his Idaho construction company. 7 RP 971/5-15, 8 RP 1069/5-25; 9 RP 1307/1-7.

(3) July-August, 2005 – Construction of a drive-way along the east side to the big barn. At the time that Cal JR moved to the Sultan ranch, the big barn where the horse boarding/ training operation was conducted had 27 horse stalls. CP 190 (FF#39); 7 RP 1005-06/24-1. One problem

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