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

was $21,000, FF 168, id., but none of the ranch income and expenses were 

ever accounted for by Cal, Jr. FF 176, CP 206. 

The evidence of the duration of the financial exploitation 

demonstrates that the relevant period over which the vulnerability of Cal 

Evans, Sr., is to be measured runs not just from 2006, but in fact all the way 

from 2004 through his death in 2011. Although reference to 2004 and 2005 

is not necessary to support the judgment here, there is clear, cogent and 

convincing evidence in the court's findings of vulnerability and of financial 

exploitation throughout all those years. The court's conclusions of law are 

fully supported by those findings. 

D. The Improvements Made to the Ranch by Cal, 
Jr.,With Mr. Evans' Money Were Not Bargained For, 
Were Not Necessary to Mr. Evans' Care on the Ranch, 
Did Not Result in Better Care for or Benefit to Mr. 
Evans, and Did Not Account for Other Instances of 
Financial Exploitation. 

Cal, Jr., argues that Findings of Fact Nos. 173, 174, and 206, CP 205 

and 209, were entered in error because Mr. Evans and his son purportedly 

entered into a contract to make a will, Brief of App. at 41, such that "every 
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single thing ... [Cal, Jr.] ... did to maintain and improve the ranch was 

consideration flowing to Cal, SR, and thus a legal benefit to him." Brief of 

App. at 41-42. This argument was not presented to the trial court, and as 

such is waived on appeal. RAP 2.5(a). See also Ainsworth v. Progressive 

Cas. Ins. Co., 180 Wn. App. 52,322 P.3d 6 (2014). The argument fails in 

any event, because Mr. Evans did not, as part of any agreement with his son, 

authorize the diminution of his cash estate by Cal, Jr.; because Mr. Evans' 

care did not require the expenditures actually made; and because the care was 

not in fact fully provided. 

RAP 2.5(a) states in part that the "appellate court may refuse to 

review any claim of error that was not raised in the trial court." RAP 2.5(a) 

(amended 1985). Thus a party's failure to "inform the court of the rules of 

law it wishes the court to apply and ... [to] ... afford the trial court an 

opportunity to correct any error", Ainsworth at 81, (citations omitted), 

"precludes raising the error on appeal." Id Cal, Jr., did not argue to the trial 

court that as a matter of law he was entitled, as part of a contract to make a 

will, to expend his father's cash resources as additional consideration for 

caring for Mr. Evans, and any such argument is waived. 

The evidence at trial showed that Mr. Evans bought the ranch with 

a horse boarding business in place, and that he wanted to continue, as a 
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"gentleman ... rancher, FF 38, CP 190, with the same or a similar operation. 

FF 30, CP 189. In late 2004, Mr. Evans asked Cal Jr., to move to the ranch 

to take care of him. FF 32, id. Mr. Evans had earlier indicated to a neighbor 

that Mr. Evans intended to establish a business relationship with Cal, Jr., and 

would leave the ranch to Cal, Jr., when Mr. Evans died. FF 28, id. Cal, Jr., 

did move with his family to the ranch in early 2005. FF 34, CP 190. 

Cal, Jr., now argues, based on these uncontested findings offact, that 

he had an enforceable contract to make a will, and that everything Cal, Jr., 

did to maintain or improve the ranch was consideration flowing to Mr. Evans. 

There is simply no evidence in the record, however, to support Cal, Jr.'s 

contention that he relied, in moving to the ranch, upon any promise of Mr. 

Evans that in addition to inheriting the ranch, Cal, Jr., could expend Mr. 

Evans' funds to improve the ranch. There was no such promise, and indeed 

it was not until after Cal, Jr., moved to the ranch that he began demanding 

more than just the inheritance of the ranch in exchange for his willingness to 

stay. See, e.g., FF 48, CP 191 (Cal, Jr., in June of2005, demanded that his 

father leave him not just the ranch but also 114 of everything else in the 

estate.) On the contrary, Mr. Evans was not seeking additional income from 

boarding operations. FF 30, CP 189. He simply wanted to enjoy the ranch 

as his "playground", FF 38, and to live there as long as possible. FF 164, CP 
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204. In 2004, and in 2005 when Cal, Jr., moved in, FF 34, CP 190, the bam 

was filled with horses, FF 39, id., and the boarding operations netted $3,000 

per month. Id. While some repairs to the bam were necessary, the ranch 

"was capable of producing $3,000 a month income, as is, without significant 

improvements." FF 40, id. 

Mr. Evans and Cal, Jr., did later document their expectations for Cal, 

Jr., in a lease executed under the supervision of Charles Diesen, in 2006. 

FF 57, CP 192. The intent of that lease was for Cal, Jr., to receive a monthly 

income from running the horse boarding operations at the ranch of$3,000 per 

month. FF 58, id. Cal, Jr., was thus to live with his family on the ranch, rent

free, and to receive an income of $3,000 per month from running the 

boarding operation. !d. Cal, Jr., may have determined to create a "first class 

horse facility for first class people", FF 36, CP 190, using his father's funds, 

but he did not bargain for such a right. Nor did Mr. Evans benefit from those 

expenditures. Cal, Jr., had already agreed to care for his father in exchange 

for the inheritance of the ranch. 

The improvements were not necessary to Mr. Evans' care. He was not 

seeking additional income from boarding operations. FF 30, CP 189. He 

simply wanted to enjoy the ranch as his "playground", FF 38, CP 190, and to 

live there as long as possible. FF 164, CP 204. In 2004, and in 2005 when 
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Cal, Jr., moved in, FF 34, CP 190, the barn was filled with horses, FF 39, id., 

and the boarding operations netted $3,000 per month. Id. The ranch was 

producing $3,000 a month income without significant improvements. FF 40, 

id. Mr. Evans did not require and was not seeking additional income. 

Cal, Jr., did not in any event, even after improvements were made, 

fully provide for Mr. Evans' care. Despite Cal, Jr.'s move to the ranch, Mr. 

Evans continued to mostly cook and care for himself. FF 62, CP 192. While 

Cal, Jr., assigns error to this finding, he provides no argument as to that 

assignment in his brief, and any error is therefore waived. Dickson at 787. 

Mr. Evans was not very effective at caring for himself. His teeth were falling 

out, and he lost substantial weight. FF 66, CP 193. He was not, in 2006, 

properly taking his medications, FF 123, CP 200, and it was Sharon Eaden 

rather than Cal, Jr., who had to see that Mr. Evans received dental attention. 

FF 73, CP 193. Cal, Jr., was collecting, until 2007, FF 169, CP 209, up to 

$21,000 in income per month from the horse boarding business, FF 168, id., 

without accounting for the excess over the $3,000 income agreed upon, FF 

Nos. 153, 154, CP 203, 176, CP 206, and 183, CP 206. In the meantime, it 

was Mr. Evans' funds that were used to pay for a care-taker for him. FF 13 7, 

CP 201. 
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Ultimately, Sharon Eaden was appointed Mr. Evans' guardian. FF 

156, CP 203. At the time of his death in April of 2011, Mr. Evans was 

receiving 24-hour care in the home of Sharon Eaden, paid for by the 

guardianship estate, rather than by Cal, Jr., FF 163, CP 204. In the meantime 

Cal, Jr., had converted to his own benefit numerous pieces of personal 

propertyofMr. Evans. See, e.g., FFNos. 179, and 183-189, CP 206-07. Cal, 

Jr., had converted Mr. Evans' Social Security checks to his own use. FF 192, 

CP 207. He also continued to reside at the ranch without paying for the 

expenses, such as taxes and insurance, in contravention of the order of the 

Snohomish County Superior Court. FF 159, CP 204. 

Cal, Jr., was not entitled, based on a contract to make a will or 

otherwise, to invade the liquid assets of his father's estate. Those assets had 

in 2005, totaled over $1 million. FF 172, CP 205. Yet by the time the 

guardianship was imposed, it was necessary to sell Mr. Evans' other real 

properties, which had been specifically devised to other children of Mr. 

Evans, see Last Will and Testament, CP 742-43, in order to pay for care for 

Mr. Evans. FF 158, CP 204. 

Even had Cal, Jr., been entitled to consume some amount of cash 

assets to improve the ranch, there is other compelling evidence of the 

financial abuse at his hands. No contract to make a will accounts, for 
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example, for Cal, Jr.'s conversion of the Social Security checks, FF Nos. 190-

91, CP 207, or his conversion of items ofMr. Evan's personal property. See, 

e.g., FF Nos. 185-188, id. There was no common profit or advantage, RCW 

74.34.020(6), App. 11, to Mr. Evans in Cal, Jr.'s expenditures or conversions, 

and the trial court's Findings of Fact Nos. 173, 174, and 206, should stand. 

E. Cal. Jr., Waived Any Argument Regarding 
Ratification by Not Presenting the Argument to the 
Trial Court and In Any Event Cannot Meet His 
Burden of Clear, Cogent and Convincing Evidence of 
Ratification. 

Cal, Jr., did not assert any claim of ratification under RCW 11.84.170, 

see App. 7, before the trial court in this case. His argument is therefore 

waived on appeal. Ainsworth, 180 Wn. App. at 81. Even had such a claim 

been preserved, it would fail. Cal, Jr., bears the burden of proof of 

ratification by clear, cogent and convincing evidence, and cannot meet that 

burden here. 

RCW 11.84.170 provides as follows: 

RCW 11.84.170 Abuser - When entitled to property 
interest. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of this chapter: 

(1) An abuser is entitled to acquire or receive an interest in 
property or any other benefit described in this chapter if the 
court determines by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence 
that the decedent: 
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(a) Knew of the financial exploitation; and 

(b) Subsequently ratified his or her intent to 
transfer the property interest or benefit to that 
person. 

(2) The court may consider the record of proceedings and in 
its discretion allow an abuser to acquire or receive an interest 
in property or any other benefit described in this chapter in 
any manner the court deems equitable. In determining what is 
equitable, the court may consider, among other things: 

(a) The various elements of the decedent's 
dispositive scheme; 

(b) The decedent's likely intent given the 
totality of the circumstances; and 

(c) The degree of harm resulting from the 
abuser's financial exploitation ofthe decedent. 

See RCW 11.84.170 (2009). Contrary to the urging of Cal, Jr., see Brief of 

App. at 45, nothing in the statutory language imposes a duty on the court to 

make findings as to whether or not ratification occurred: there is no 

mandatory phrase, such as the "court shall determine .... " Nor is there any 

language in the statute imposing on the petitioner an element of proof of the 

absence of ratification. There is also no case law construing 11.84.170. 

Consequently "[t]he question whether the burden of proof rests with a 

plaintiff or defendant may be determined by ascertaining which party without 

evidence will be compelled to submit to an adverse judgment on the 

pleadings." Coffman v. Spokane Chronicle Pub. Co., 65 Wash. 1,8-9, 117 
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Pac. 596,600 (1911). 

Ratification is a determination factually independent of the 

determination of financial abuse, for proof of it can only arise out of facts 

occurring, if at all, after the exploitation has occurred. RCW 11.84.170, App. 

7. Thus a petitioner can establish financial exploitation without reaching the 

issue of ratification. Absent proof of additional facts in support of 

ratification, therefore, the abuser "will be compelled to submit to ... [the] ... 

adverse judgment ... ", id., of financial exploitation, with all its 

consequences. The burden of proof of ratification must therefore fall on the 

abuser. Certainly the court has no obligation to establish the non-existence 

of ratification as part of a judgment on the petition. Cal, lr. 's argument fails 

because he did not assert and prove ratification before the trial court. 

Cal, lr.'s argument would also fail even ifhe were allowed to submit 

such evidence on appeal. The fact that the trial court determined that Mr. 

Evans had testamentary capacity when he made his will in 2006, see C of L 

2, CP 209 or 515, for example, does not establish by any evidence, much less 

clear, cogent and convincing evidence, that Mr. Evans knew he had been 

subjected to financial abuse in 2004 and 2005. In particular it cannot 

establish that Mr. Evans ratified, by reason of the making of a will, 

subsequent instances of financial exploitation that occurred from 2006 
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through 2010. See, e.g. , FF Nos. 189-194, CP 207-08 (conversion of Social 

Security checks); and 183-188, CP 206-07 (conversion of equipment worth 

thousands of dollars); 161, CP 204 (failure to pay taxes and insurance on the 

ranch or to reimburse the estate for those expenses). There was no error here. 

F. The Court's Denial of the Motion for Reconsideration 
Was a Proper Exercise of Discretion Where Cal, Jr., 
Did Not Substantiate Any of the Grounds For 
Reconsideration. 

A trial court's determination on a motion for reconsideration is 

reviewed for abuse of discretion. Landstar Inway Inc., v. Samrow, 181 Wn. 

App. 109, 120,325 P.3d 327 (2014) (citations omitted). Cal, Jr., fails to 

substantiate any such abuse in his argument on appeal. 

Cal, Jr., urges first that the trial court failed to consider the legal effect 

ofthe monetary contributions he made to the ranch. See Brief of App. at 48. 

The trial court did enter findings that generally confirmed the fact of such 

contributions. See FF 199, CP 208. (Understandably it did not adopt the 

findings as to contributions that were made by the judge in Cal, Jr.'s 

dissolution action, see Ex. 98, to which the petitioners here were not a party.) 

As to the asserted legal effect of such contributions, however, Cal, Jr., cannot 

show that any such argument was presented to the trial court. Having failed 

to do so, he cannot raise the issue for the first time by motion: CR 59 

provides for reconsideration only if the error in law occurred at the trial, and 
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was "objected to at the time by the party making the application." CR 

59(a)(8). See App. 1. Cal, Jr., made no showing on reconsideration that he 

had preserved the issue by arguing his theory of the legal effect of his 

monetary contributions at trial. His assertion that because of his 

contributions to the ranch there was "no reasonable inference for the ... [trial 

court's] ... decision", see Motion for Reconsideration at 2, CP 322, was 

properly rejected by the trial court. 

The trial court made no finding in any event of benefit to Mr. Evans 

by reason of Cal, Jr.'s contributions. See generally, Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law, CP 186. It did find that Cal, Jr., had made no 

accounting to the estate of his own funds or of the value of time he had 

invested. FF 199, CP 208. It also specifically rejected the testimony of Cal 

Evans, Jr., that he had created the road on the east side of the barn. FF 196, 

CP 208. Even had the court found a benefit, moreover, there is no authority 

for Cal, Jr.'s proposition that a benefit as to one asset will compensate for and 

negate the consequence of financial exploitation as to other assets. 

Cal, Jr., next argues that there were evidentiary bases for his motion 

for reconsideration. He apparently relies for that assertion on declarations 

submitted with his motion. See Brief of App. at 29 (summarizing testimony 

from declarations submitted in support of the motion for reconsideration). 
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See also Brief of App. at 48-9 (arguing, without citation to the record, that 

there was "hard evidence ... showing insufficient pressure check in one 

valve ofthe Cessna aircraft ... ", and "detailed testimony ... that he built a 

new road on the east side of the property"). New evidence forms a basis for 

reconsideration, however, only if the moving party "could not with reasonable 

diligence have discovered and produced ... [it] ... at trial. CR 59(a)(4). 

See App. 1. Cal, Jr., failed in his motion to substantiate that the evidence 

submitted in the declarations was newly discovered and could not have been 

timely discovered and produced at trial. Cal, Jr., could not therefore 

demonstrate that he was entitled to relief under CR 59(a)(4). See App. 1. 

Finally, Cal, Jr., argues that substantial justice has not been done, so 

as to entitle him to relief under CR 59(a)(9). He asserts that the trial court did 

not apply a "legal test of benefit", Brief of App. at 49, and that it improperly 

rejected the testimony of Cal, Jr., as to the airplane engine and the east 

driveway. Id. As discussed above, however, Cal, Jr., did not argue the "legal 

benefit" theory before the trial court, and any such theory was waived. With 

respect to the testimony of Cal, Jr., at trial, appellate courts will not "reweigh 

or rebalance competing testimony and inferences even if ... [the court would 

have] ... resolved the factual dispute differently." Bale v. Allison, 173 Wn. 

App. 435, 458, 294 P.3d 789 (2013), reconsid. granted (March 2013)

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